
Community Development Authority 
of the City of Onalaska 
Monday, September 28, 2015 
1 

The meeting of the Community Development Authority of the City of Onalaska was called to 1 
order at 4:00 p.m. on Monday, September 28, 2015.  It was noted that the meeting had been 2 
announced and a notice posted at City Hall. 3 
 4 
Roll call was taken with the following members present:  John Lyche, Ald. Barry Blomquist, 5 
Ron Johnson, Mike Gargaro.  Ann Brandau arrived with the meeting in progress. 6 
 7 
Also Present:  Mayor Joe Chilsen, Land Use and Development Director Brea Grace, Ald. Harvey 8 
Bertrand, Ald. Jim Binash 9 
 10 
Excused Absences:  Mark Hansen, Ald. Jim Olson 11 
 12 
Item 2 – Approval of minutes from the previous meeting 13 
 14 
Motion by John, second by Ron, to approve the minutes from the previous meeting as printed 15 
and on file in the City Clerk’s Office. 16 
 17 
On voice vote, motion carried. 18 
 19 
Item 3 – Public Input (limited to 3 minutes/individual) 20 
 21 
Mike called for anyone wishing to provide public input. 22 
 23 
Brea noted that she had distributed a letter from LADCO reiterating its budget request and 24 
detailing its budget proposal for 2016. 25 
 26 
Mike called three times for anyone else wishing to provide public input and closed that portion 27 
of the meeting. 28 
 29 

Consideration and possible action on the following items: 30 
 31 
Item 4 – Report from Land Use & Development Director 32 
 33 

a. Building Permit & Development Update 34 
 35 
Brea noted there are more “higher valued” projects occurring both in the residential and 36 
commercial sectors even though the number of permits issued in 2015 has not exceeded the 37 
number of permits issued in 2014.  Brea also reported the following: 38 
 39 

• Total investment through August 2015 is $41.3 million.  Total investment for all of 2014 40 
was $42.9 million.  Larger site plans under review and not yet issued a building permit 41 

Reviewed 10/02/2015 by Brea Grace 
 



Community Development Authority 
of the City of Onalaska 
Monday, September 28, 2015 
2 

include a new 74-unit residential apartment complex by Traditional Trades on Sand Lake 42 
Road; a 33,500 square foot Festival Foods Support Center; a 4,300 square foot Co-op 43 
Credit Union; and construction of a new 40-by-40 foot cold storage accessory and 44 
parking lot expansion at Luke’s Auto. 45 

• Larger site plan reviews completed in 2015 include Allergy Associates, Kujak Dental, 46 
Arby’s, and an apartment complex by Terry Weiland and one on Green Bay Street. 47 

 48 
Brea noted that for commercial construction several alterations and remodels had occurred in 49 
2009, 2010 and 2011.  However, the number of new building being constructed has increased 50 
within the last couple years. 51 
 52 
Item 5 – Review and discussion of Menards Area Plan; consideration of Plan Update 53 
 54 
Brea noted that the Menards/Elmwood Master Plan was completed in 2004 and said she had 55 
placed it in CDA members’ packets so a discussion could take place this afternoon.  The project 56 
area included the area east of Sand Lake Road from County Trunk Highway S to United States 57 
Highway 53.  Brea noted the Preliminary Master Plan Alternate 1 for the Sand Lake Road 58 
corridor shows that the property runs up to CTH S, down Riders Club Road, covers part of the 59 
north side of Riders Club Road as well as the Menards property.  Brea said, “The quandary that 60 
I’m facing is as we’re seeing development being planned for this corridor, in reviewing 61 
development I have this as a guide for development and it doesn’t hold true.  It’s planning high-62 
density retail out where Mayo purchased the property.  The question I have for the CDA is, what 63 
should we do with this?  I think since it’s no longer really valid I think we either get rid of it or 64 
we update it.” 65 
 66 
Brea noted that a residential development is being constructed along Sand Lake Road, the 74-67 
unit apartment complex which Traditional Trades is building.  Brea said, “As more development 68 
pressures come into this area, I want to make our expectations known to the developers up front. 69 
But if these are not our expectations, I just want to clean it up.” 70 
 71 
John asked Brea if Mayo had made known its intentions for this area. 72 
 73 
Brea said not yet. 74 
 75 
Ald. Bertrand asked if a hotel will be constructed in this area. 76 
 77 
Brea said it is her understanding that Mayo will be focusing solely on medical facilities.  Other 78 
developers would address ancillary uses. 79 
 80 
Ann said former Land Use and Development Director Jason Gilman had created the 81 
Menards/Elmwood Master Plan, noting the plan carried with it the expectation that retail outlets 82 

Reviewed 10/02/2015 by Brea Grace 
 



Community Development Authority 
of the City of Onalaska 
Monday, September 28, 2015 
3 

eventually would be constructed in this area.  Ann said she believes it is illogical to focus on a 83 
plan that does not address what its use eventually will be. 84 
 85 
John noted that hospitals want to have retail outlets nearby. 86 
 87 
Ald. Blomquist asked Brea how she can devise a new plan until she receives direction from 88 
Mayo.  Ald. Blomquist noted that Mayo had purchased more than 50 percent of the land and said 89 
Mayo’s plans will influence how the remainder of the land will be utilized.  Ald. Blomquist said 90 
he believes a hotel will be constructed if Mayo constructs a substantial facility.  Ald. Blomquist 91 
also said the 2004 plan was created on “what ifs.” 92 
 93 
Brea said she is leaning toward updating the 2004 plan and told the CDA she would align the 94 
update so that she is working with Mayo and the other property owners.  Brea said she is seeking 95 
direction as to whether she should update the plan or dissolve it because it no longer is 96 
applicable. 97 
 98 
John said he believes there are sound provisions included in the 2004 plan, including a maximum 99 
building height of four stories.  However, John also said he agrees with Ald. Blomquist in that 100 
the city should first learn what Mayo’s intentions are.  John said the city then could ask 101 
Elmwood what its intentions are and “fill in the gaps.” 102 
 103 
Brea said the CDA also must decide if the plan should include design standards for Riders Club 104 
Road to U.S. Highway 53, adding she believes this area will be redeveloped over time. 105 
 106 
Ann noted the traffic circle that was constructed at Sand Lake Road and Riders Club Road was 107 
due to the 2004 plan, as was the road design.  Ann said she envisions serious traffic congestion 108 
occurring at the traffic circle when Mayo constructs its facilities. 109 
 110 
Mayor Chilsen said Mayo does not object to the traffic circle and noted that three more traffic 111 
circles are planned along Sand Lake Road.  Mayor Chilsen said the CDA must be “very general” 112 
if it chooses to revise the plan because of the uncertainty associated with Mayo’s intentions.  113 
However, Mayor Chilsen also said Jason told him he had seen a schematic of the Mayo facility. 114 
 115 
Ron asked Mayor Chilsen if he believes Mayo has a plan but has not been forthcoming with it. 116 
 117 
Mayor Chilsen said, “It depends on who you ask.”  Mayor Chilsen reiterated that Jason told him 118 
he had seen a schematic “a long time ago” and compared it to the city’s rendering of the Great 119 
River Landing.  Mayor Chilsen said his Mayo contact is Peter Hughes, who has told him that 120 
Mayo has not yet reached the design phase. 121 
 122 
Ald. Bertrand asked if Mayo has decided on the design of the hospital/clinic. 123 

Reviewed 10/02/2015 by Brea Grace 
 



Community Development Authority 
of the City of Onalaska 
Monday, September 28, 2015 
4 

 124 
Mayor Chilsen said yes, but added, “They haven’t told me officially.”  Mayor Chilsen said he 125 
has heard many things from many people including that Mayo will construct a women’s health 126 
center, an advanced surgical center or a medical center. 127 
 128 
Ann said she doubts the zoning would be changed if an individual wanted to develop the area 129 
around the Menards center.  Ann said that while she believes it still is logical for commercial 130 
development to occur in this area, she does not believe residential development is feasible.  Ann 131 
pointed out that the land north of the traffic circle is zoned High Density Residential, which she 132 
believes is appropriate, suggested zoning Mayo’s parcels as Medical and then changing it once 133 
Mayo shares its plans with the city. 134 
 135 
Ald. Blomquist noted that everything on the left side of the road is zoned High Density 136 
Residential and said it seems logical it will migrate across the north end to the Elmwood 137 
property.  Ald. Blomquist said the question lies within the south end of the Elmwood property 138 
and how much commercial will be located there.  Ald. Blomquist said once Mayo informs the 139 
city what it plans to construct, it will dictate what will be constructed to the north because this is 140 
the most available land.  Ald. Blomquist also said he does not envision Elmwood selling 141 
anything until Mayo makes its plans known. 142 
 143 
Brea said she will continue to enforce the plan in the around Menards (Sand Lake Road to the 144 
west and Riders Club Road to the south) as development comes in with Commercial Mixed Use 145 
and Highway Oriented Commercial.  The plan states that brick, stone or high-quality concrete 146 
must be utilized on at least 50 percent of all exterior walls.  Brea also predicted that more offices, 147 
restaurants and retail outlets will appear along the north side of Riders Club Road once Mayo 148 
constructs its facility. 149 
 150 
Ald. Blomquist inquired about enforcement if an individual wants to purchase Carpets to Go on 151 
Riders Club Road and construct an office building. 152 
 153 
Brea said she would have to follow the 2004 plan for the Commercial Mixed Use purpose, which 154 
states that buildings must be a minimum of two stories in height.  Brea said it would not be 155 
possible to raze Carpets to Go and construct a new, single-story building. 156 
 157 
Ald. Blomquist asked what would happen if he wanted to construct a new, single-story building. 158 
 159 
Brea said she would send the request to the Plan Commission. 160 
 161 
John suggested “amplifying” certain items (e.g., two-story structures, exteriors must be a certain 162 
quality, setback requirements) to the Plan Commission instead of revising the entire 2004 plan. 163 
 164 

Reviewed 10/02/2015 by Brea Grace 
 



Community Development Authority 
of the City of Onalaska 
Monday, September 28, 2015 
5 

For clarification, Brea asked John if he is suggesting making a minor modification to the plan. 165 
 166 
Mike said, “Pick the provision [and] find what those requirements are – let’s look at these 167 
restrictions or what we’re requiring.  Let’s get those listed out and make sure we’re on board 168 
with what those are, then just come back and look at those.  These still all make sense knowing 169 
that 50 percent of this is going to be one building.”  Mike said one individual would have to 170 
purchase and develop two or three buildings on Riders Club Road to ensure success. 171 
 172 
John said it will be important to “amplify” the items the CDA wants to “cast in stone.” 173 
 174 
Item 6 – Update and discussion on the Building the Great River Landing Project 175 
 176 
Brea said staff has been putting together a funding package that assumes the project will cost 177 
$2.75 million and distributed to the CDA a copy of a handout that also will be distributed to the 178 
Tourism Commission for its Wednesday meeting, the Finance and Personnel Committee for its 179 
October 7 meeting, and the Common Council for its October 13 meeting.  Brea said staff is still 180 
looking at a $346,000 stewardship grant from the Wisconsin Department of Natural Resources.  181 
The cost of the project would be reduced to $2.4 million if the city receives the grant.  Brea 182 
shared with the CDA the following funding scenarios staff had compiled: 183 
 184 

• Utilize a portion of the approximate $1,595,234 fund balance in the Special Projects 185 
Account.  Brea suggested perhaps utilizing $1 million from the Restricted Fund Balance. 186 

• Utilize a General Obligation Bond for $1.4 million.  Annual debt service payments, 187 
approximated at $100,000, would be made from annual room tax revenues. 188 

• Utilize the WDNR Stewardship Grant to fund $346,000.  The city will know in late 189 
October about the grant award.  If the grant is not awarded, the city either would have to: 190 

o Decrease the overall project budget by $346,000. 191 
o Increase the amount from fund balance from $1 million to $1,346,000 to maintain 192 

a $2.75 million project total. 193 
o Increase the amount of the bond from $1.4 million to $1,746,000 to maintain a 194 

$2.75 million project total, which would increase the annual PMI to 195 
approximately $122,000. 196 

 197 
Brea said the Wisconsin DNR is doing due diligence on the grant and noted that the city has 198 
completed all the archaeological studying on the site.  Brea also noted that the Schams property 199 
is being razed today and said all of the project area will have been studied once the structure has 200 
been razed.  Brea said staff is creating a spreadsheet of cost estimates (grading, paving and 201 
stonework) and noted there currently only is a 30-percent design and the cost estimates still are 202 
“pretty rough.”  Brea noted that the Phase I design still must be completed and said $100,000 has 203 
been budgeted from the 2015 Capital Improvements Budget.  The total estimated cost for the 204 
Phase I design is approximately $160,000, and $60,000 is being requested either from Tourism’s 205 

Reviewed 10/02/2015 by Brea Grace 
 



Community Development Authority 
of the City of Onalaska 
Monday, September 28, 2015 
6 

Restricted Fund Balance or annual room tax revenues.  Brea said she will be attending 206 
Wednesday’s Tourism Commission meeting to see what its members will recommend. 207 
 208 
John asked how a $100,000 increase to the annual PMI will affect the tax base to a $100,000 209 
home. 210 
 211 
Brea said there will be no cost to the taxpayers if funds are taken from room tax revenues.  Brea 212 
noted that the State of Wisconsin’s 2015 Biennial Budget stipulates that room tax dollars must be 213 
utilized for the promotion and development of tourism.  Therefore, the Great River Landing 214 
Project is “100-percent fundable.” 215 
 216 
Mayor Chilsen said the new state budget gives the city more flexibility to fund the Great River 217 
Landing project. 218 
 219 
John asked how much room tax revenue is currently available if less money is withdrawn from 220 
the restricted fund balance and the bond is increased. 221 
 222 
Ald. Bertrand asked if the total would be $900,000 a year. 223 
 224 
Mayor Chilsen said yes, but added this is not available.  Mayor Chilsen also said that if room tax 225 
dollars are utilized the city can leverage the “war chest” the city currently has. 226 
 227 
Ald. Bertrand said it is his understanding that $150,000 is needed annually to service the debt. 228 
 229 
Mayor Chilsen said the city also must fund some type of tourism entity. 230 
 231 
Brea said Baird, the city’s bond counsel, had recommended borrowing.  Brea said a $2 million 232 
bond would be approximately a $200,000 PMI. 233 
 234 
Ald. Blomquist asked when the room tax started, and also asked about the motivation behind it. 235 
 236 
Mayor Chilsen said its purpose is to fund tourism. 237 
 238 
Ann asked if taxpayers had the expectation that the $1,595,234 in the Special Projects Account 239 
would come back to them as property tax relief. 240 
 241 
Ald. Binash noted that less will be needed for borrowing if the funds in the Special Projects 242 
Account are utilized.  Ald. Binash noted that five new hotels are being constructed in the City of 243 
La Crosse, but said the City of Onalaska will still have good occupancy rates.  Ald. Binash 244 
pointed out that an as of yet undetermined amount of money will be utilized for a new regional 245 
tourism entity.  Ald. Binash said there should be sufficient funding remaining to pay for a 246 

Reviewed 10/02/2015 by Brea Grace 
 



Community Development Authority 
of the City of Onalaska 
Monday, September 28, 2015 
7 

bonding issue even though there also will other projects to fund.  Ald. Binash noted the city 247 
would have to pay between $102,000 and $155,000 over 19 years if it borrows a certain amount.  248 
Ald. Binash said he is comfortable with utilizing $1 million from the Special Projects Account 249 
and keeping approximately $500,000 in it. 250 
 251 
John said he is suggesting borrowing more because there are projects that will increase the city’s 252 
tax base. 253 
 254 
Ald. Binash noted the funds are restricted to tourism. 255 
 256 
Mike asked about removing the debt for the project and utilizing these funds for tourism 257 
payments if the city must borrow money for other projects. 258 
 259 
John said he believes the Special Projects Fund is ideal for something such as the construction of 260 
a parking ramp. 261 
 262 
Brea said she will obtain clarification from the city’s legal counsel and share this information at 263 
the October 26 CDA meeting.  Brea also noted that the CDA’s budget obtains room tax dollars 264 
yearly. 265 
 266 
Ald. Binash said he believes everyone would agree to take out $60,000 so the Phase I design 267 
may begin. 268 
 269 
Ann said the city will only have limited opportunities to borrow at the current interest rates, and 270 
she also said she supports utilizing funds from the Special Projects Account. 271 
 272 
Ald. Blomquist inquired about a connection between the project, which includes a trailhead 273 
structure, and tourism.  Ald. Blomquist also noted there is no access to the water in this phase. 274 
 275 
Brea noted an ADA trail will be provided from the parking.  The trail will loop north before 276 
heading south to Irvin Street. 277 
 278 
Ald. Blomquist expressed concern that a constituent will express frustration that the city spent 279 
more than $2 million on the project.  Ald. Blomquist said he has attempted to picture what the 280 
project will look like and inquired about the proposed plaza off the terminus of Main Street.  281 
Ald. Blomquist also said several trees likely will need to be cut down so the water can be seen. 282 
 283 
Brea noted the channel can be seen now that the Schams house has been razed. 284 
 285 
Ald. Bertrand said he believes there needs to be a feature at the STH 35/Main Street intersection 286 
that will capture attention. 287 

Reviewed 10/02/2015 by Brea Grace 
 



Community Development Authority 
of the City of Onalaska 
Monday, September 28, 2015 
8 

 288 
Ald. Binash reminded everyone that this is only the first phase and said the Great River Landing 289 
will be similar to a park, but also will attract tourists.  Ald. Binash said he believes the “wow 290 
factor” will be the aesthetics the project will provide for the city. 291 
 292 
Ald. Bertrand asked if there will be private funding once construction begins. 293 
 294 
Brea said the goal would be to have a private donation funding campaign.  However, Brea also 295 
said the city first must commit to the project. 296 
 297 
Item 7 – Closed Session: 298 
 299 
To consider a motion to convene in Closed Session under Section 19.85(1)(e) of the Wisconsin 300 
Statutes for the purpose of deliberating or negotiating the purchasing of public properties, the 301 
investing of public funds or conducting other specified public business, whenever competitive or 302 
bargaining reasons require a closed session: 303 
 304 

• Discussion related to development and refinement of negotiating and development 305 
strategies as well as review of development proposals for TIF 4 District. 306 

 307 
If any action is required in Open Session, as the result of the Closed Session, the CDA Board 308 
will reconvene in Open Session to take the necessary action and/or continue on with the printed 309 
agenda. 310 
 311 
Motion by John, second by Ald. Blomquist, to convene in Closed Session. 312 
 313 
On roll call vote:  Ann Brandau – aye, John Lyche – aye, Ald. Barry Blomquist – aye, Ron 314 
Johnson – aye, Mike Gargaro –aye.  In Closed Session at 5:05 p.m. 315 
 316 
Motion by Ald. Blomquist, second by Ron, to adjourn from Closed Session. 317 
 318 
On roll call vote:  Ann Brandau – aye, John Lyche – aye, Ald. Barry Blomquist – aye, Ron 319 
Johnson – aye, Mike Gargaro –aye. 320 
 321 
Adjourned at 5:51 p.m.  322 
 323 
 324 
Recorded By: 325 
 326 
Kirk Bey 327 

Reviewed 10/02/2015 by Brea Grace 
 


